

Strasbourg, 23 October 2023

THB-CP(2023)RAP32

COMMITTEE OF THE PARTIES COUNCIL OF EUROPE CONVENTION ON ACTION AGAINST TRAFFICKING IN HUMAN BEINGS

32nd meeting of the Committee of the Parties

Strasbourg, 16 June 2023

MEETING REPORT

Contents

Agenda item 1: Opening of the meeting	3
Agenda item 2: Adoption of the draft agenda	3
Agenda item 3: Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee of the Parties	3
Agenda item 3a: Modalities of participation of Belarus in the work of the Committee of the Parties to t Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings	
Agenda item 4: State of signatures and ratifications of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings	4
Agenda item 5: Exchange of views with the President of GRETA	5
Agenda item 6: Examination of GRETA's reports on the implementation of the Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings by Estonia and Greece (second evaluation round) and Azerbaijan North Macedonia, Poland, Serbia, Slovenia and Spain (third evaluation round) and adoption of recommendations in respect of these Parties	า, 6
Agenda item 7: Government reports submitted in reply to Committee of the Parties recommendations .	8
Agenda item 8: Information on activities aimed at strengthening the implementation of GRETA's conclusions and the Committee of the Parties' recommendations	.12
Agenda item 9: Information on the anti-trafficking activities of other Council of Europe bodies and international organisations of interest to the Committee of the Parties	.12
Agenda item 10: Dates of future meetings	.12
Agenda item 11: Other business	.12
Agenda item 12: Adoption of the list of decisions taken	.13
Appendix I	.14
Appendix II	.15
Appendix III	.22
Appendix IV	.23
Appendix V	.26
Appendix VI	.28
Appendix VII	.29
Appendix VIII	.30
Appendix IX	.32
Appendix X	.34
Appendix XI	.35

· ,

Agenda item 1: Opening of the meeting

1. The Committee of the Parties to the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings (hereinafter referred to respectively as "the Committee" and "the Convention") held its 32nd meeting on 16 June 2023 in Strasbourg. The meeting was held in a hybrid format, with some members participating online via the platform KUDO. Pending the election of the new Chair of the Committee, the meeting was opened and chaired by the Vice-Chair, Ambassador Spassova.

Agenda item 2: Adoption of the draft agenda

- 2. The Vice-Chair invited the Committee to adopt the revised draft agenda of the meeting. The representative of Belarus, Mr Kyrill Hrusheuski, who participated online via KUDO, expressed his objection to the inclusion of item 3a (modalities of participation of Belarus in the work of the Committee of the Parties) in the revised draft agenda of the meeting on the grounds that it had been added a week prior to the meeting, which in his view was against the deadline of four weeks for distributing working documents envisaged in Rule 11 of the Rules of Procedure of the Committee.
- 3. Several representatives of State Parties (Czech Republic, Ukraine and Switzerland) intervened in favour of keeping item 3a on the agenda, referring to the Committee of Ministers' decision on the "Modalities for the participation of Belarus in open conventions" (CM/Del/Dec(2022)1445/10.4), which had invited all convention-based bodies to take a decision on this matter. It was noted that at its previous meeting (25 November 2022), the Committee had not discussed this matter as the meeting had included the adoption of a recommendation in respect of Belarus, which warranted the participation of Belarus in that meeting. However, on 1 June 2023, a formal request by Ambassador Borys Tarasyuk (Ukraine) had been submitted to place on the agenda of the current meeting the issue of the participation on Belarus in meetings of the Committee. Several members expressed the view that the revision of the draft agenda did not contradict the Rules of Procedure of the Committee.
- 4. In order to make a decision, the item was put to the vote by means of the following question: "Do you accept to withdraw item 3a from the agenda?". With 36 votes against, two abstentions and three votes in favour, the proposal of the Belarusian representative was rejected.
- 5. The agenda, as adopted by the Committee, is set out in Appendix I. The list of participants is set out in Appendix II.

Agenda item 3: Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee of the Parties

- 6. The Vice-Chair indicated that following the departure from Strasbourg of Ambassador Christian Meuwly (Switzerland), who had previously served as Chair of the Committee, and the expiry of her own term of office as Vice-Chair on 17 June 2023, the Committee was invited to hold elections for its Chair and Vice-Chair.
- 7. The Executive Secretary informed the Committee that the Secretariat had received an expression of interest from the current Vice-Chair of the Committee, Ambassador Maria Spassova (Bulgaria), to become the new Chair. No other candidates were proposed and the Committee elected Ambassador Spassova as its Chair by acclamation for a first term of office of one year.
- 8. Ambassador Spassova thanked the Committee for the confidence placed in her and stated that she would promote the Convention and its effective implementation, building on the work of the previous Chairs.
- 9. The new Chair invited members to elect a new Vice-Chair of the Committee. She indicated that Ambassador Jean-Cédric Janssens de Bisthoven (Belgium) had expressed interest in assuming this role. No other candidates were proposed and the Committee elected Ambassador Janssens de Bisthoven as its Vice-Chair by acclamation for a first term of office of one year.

10. Ambassador Janssens de Bisthoven also thanked the Committee for the confidence placed in him and stated that he would do his utmost to support the work of the Committee.

Agenda item 3a: Modalities of participation of Belarus in the work of the Committee of the Parties to the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings

- 11. The Chair referred to the decision of the Council of Europe's Ministers' Deputies of 5 October 2022 on the "Modalities for the participation of Belarus in open conventions" (CM/Del/Dec(2022)1445/10.4), inviting all convention-based bodies to decide, in accordance with their Rules of Procedure, on the modalities of the participation of Belarus in the Council of Europe conventions to which it is a party, at the latest by the end of December 2022, and to envisage possible restrictions on the participation of Belarus in meetings or in the adoption of decisions and the right to vote.
- 12. The Chair recalled the formal request by Ukraine to place on the agenda of the meeting the issue of restricting the participation on Belarus in the meetings of the Committee, and gave the floor to the representative of Ukraine, Mr Iaroslav Zhydenko (Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Ukraine). Mr Zhydenko explained that as the matter was not discussed at the last meeting of Committee in November 2022, this meeting provided an opportunity to implement the Committee of Ministers' decision.
- 13. The Chair explained that the Committee was invited to consider, decide and vote on three issues: first, on the decision to review the modalities of participation of Belarus in the Committee; second, on the adoption of revised Rules of Procedure which include a new Rule 3.1 ("Restriction of participation of a Party"); and finally, on the application of the revised Rules of Procedure to Belarus. The Chair recalled that voting required the quorum and that decisions of the Committee are taken by a two-thirds majority of the votes cast. She also noted that all 48 States Parties to the Convention were represented at the meeting except for Spain, which had apologised.
- 14. The voting was conducted via KUDO and was divided into three questions, one per issue (as indicated above). The first question ("Are you in favour of reviewing the modalities of participation of Belarus in the Committee of the Parties to CETS No. 197?") received 33 votes in favour, two votes against and three abstentions. As the first vote was positive, the Committee proceeded with a vote on the second matter. Question two ("Are you in favour of introducing the new Rule 3.1 "Restriction of participation of a Party" into the Rules of Procedure of the Committee?") received 37 votes in favour, one vote against and two abstentions. Following the adoption of the new Rule 3.1, representatives cast their vote concerning the third question ("Are you in favour of applying the newly introduced Rule 3.1 "Restriction of participation of a Party" to Belarus?"). It received 37 votes in favour, one vote against and three abstentions. The application of the new Rule 3.1 was therefore applied to Belarus with immediate effect, and the representative of Belarus was asked to disconnect from the meeting. The text of the new Rule 3.1 "Restriction of participation of a Party" of the Rules of Procedure of the Committee is set out in Appendix III.

Agenda item 4: State of signatures and ratifications of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings

15. The Chair noted that no new signatures and/or ratifications had been submitted since the last meeting of the Committee in November 2022. She underlined that following a request by the Tunisian Government, the invitation to accede to the Convention had been extended until 7 February 2024. Further, a meeting with high-ranking Moroccan officials had recently taken place and a possible submission of a request to the Committee of Ministers to invite Morocco to accede to the Convention was discussed.

Agenda item 5: Exchange of views with the President of GRETA

16. The Chair invited Ms Helga Gayer, President of the Group of Experts on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings (GRETA), to take the floor for the periodic exchange of views with the Committee.

- 17. Ms Gayer noted that GRETA's activities had been impacted by the war in Ukraine in many different ways, which was why GRETA had decided to dedicate a thematic chapter in its latest (12th) General Report, covering the calendar year 2022, to preventing and detecting trafficking in human beings following Russia's aggression against Ukraine. She indicated that according to information collected by GRETA, the number of confirmed cases of human trafficking of Ukrainian refugees remained low, which could be a sign of the success of the early preventive measures taken to protect Ukrainian refugees and mitigate the risks of trafficking. However, she stressed that cases of trafficking in human beings might be difficult to detect and investigate, making this crime "invisible", and that the social and economic vulnerabilities of the millions of people affected by the war in Ukraine are likely to increase as time goes on. That is why coordinated action and rapid exchange of information at national and international level remain crucial to prevent trafficking, detect potential victims, and investigate and prosecute any detected cases.
- 18. Furthermore, Ms Gayer highlighted the main findings from GRETA's third evaluation round reports concerning the eight countries (Estonia and Greece, as part of the second evaluation round, and Azerbaijan, North Macedonia, Poland, Serbia, Slovenia and Spain, as part of the third round) which were the subject of draft recommendations by the Committee of the Parties at the meeting. These reports highlighted improvement in the legislation, policy and practice of the countries concerned, but at the same time showed that there were several persistent gaps and challenges, due to lack of political will, resources or training.
- 19. GRETA's President stated that in 2022, GRETA had followed an intensive work schedule, including four plenary meetings and 13 country evaluation visits, which was the highest number of evaluations in any given year organised by GRETA so far. After the delay caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, GRETA was back on track, aiming to complete the third round of evaluation of the Convention in respect of most State Parties and to launch the fourth evaluation round, with a focus on addressing vulnerabilities to human trafficking, including those related to the use information and communication technology.
- 20. In addition, Ms Gayer referred to the recently organised sixth annual meeting of National Anti-trafficking Co-ordinators and Rapporteurs from 60 countries across the Council of Europe and OSCE geographical areas, in Strasbourg. Participants had discussed how to improve the identification and assistance of victims of transnational trafficking, the proactive use of financial investigations, the prevention and detection of trafficking for the purpose of forced criminality, as well as the mandates and roles of National Anti-trafficking Co-ordinators and Rapporteurs. The full text of Ms Gayer's statement is set out in Appendix IV.
- 21. The representative of France, Ms Roxana Maracineanu (Secretary General of MIPROF, the interministerial coordination body on human trafficking of France), thanked GRETA for its work and underlined the relevance of the thematic areas which would be covered by the fourth evaluation round. She noted that the third national action plan on combating human trafficking was under preparation and referred to the efforts made by France to support Ukrainian refugees.

Agenda item 6: Examination of GRETA's reports on the implementation of the Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings by Estonia and Greece (second evaluation round) and Azerbaijan, North Macedonia, Poland, Serbia, Slovenia and Spain (third evaluation round) and adoption of recommendations in respect of these Parties

22. The Chair of the Committee recalled that since the last meeting of the Committee, GRETA had adopted and published two final reports under the second round of implementation of the Convention, concerning Estonia and Greece, and six final reports under the third evaluation round, concerning Azerbaijan, North Macedonia, Poland, Serbia, Slovenia and Spain. The eight draft recommendations based on these reports had been made available to the Committee four weeks before the meeting and members had been invited to send any proposals for amendments by 12 June 2023. The Secretariat had not received any proposals for amendments to the draft recommendations in advance of the meeting. The Chair noted that the two draft recommendations on Estonia and Greece followed the model of recommendations under the second evaluation round, setting a one-year deadline for informing the Committee of the Parties of the measures taken, whereas the other six draft recommendations followed the model of recommendations under the third evaluation round, setting a two-year deadline for informing the Committee of the Parties of the measures taken.

Second evaluation round

6.1. Estonia

- 23. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning Estonia.
- 24. Ms Anu Leps (Advisor at the Criminal Policy Department of the Ministry of Justice of Estonia) expressed her gratitude to GRETA for the co-operation in the course of the second evaluation, and indicated that the implementation of the recommendations made following GRETA's report would be discussed at a round-table to be organised in September.
- 25. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of Estonia and decided to request the Estonian Government to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2024.

6.2. Greece

- 26. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning Greece.
- 27. Mr Michael Nakos (Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Greece), who joined the meeting online, thanked GRETA for the excellent co-operation during the second evaluation of Greece and expressed commitment to continue this co-operation. He referred to steps taken by Greece to improve the fight against human trafficking, including legislative amendments, a fully operational National Referral Mechanism, the adoption of a National Emergency Response Mechanism for unaccompanied children, and strengthening of the Labour Inspectorate.
- 28. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of Greece and decided to request the Greek Government to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2024.

Third evaluation round

6.3. Azerbaijan

29. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning Azerbaijan.

- 30. Mr Samir Garayev (Head of Division of the Main Department on Combating Trafficking in Human Beings at the Ministry of Internal Affairs of Azerbaijan), who joined online, could not intervene due to technical problems. Therefore, Mr Tale Aliyev (Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Azerbaijan), who was present in the room, continued his intervention. Mr Aliyev thanked GRETA for the constructive co-operation during the third evaluation of Azerbaijan. He referred to recent developments, which include an increase in the number of lawyers providing legal assistance to victims, the amendment of the rules of the National Referral Mechanism, and the approval of new Rules of Procedure of the Working Group on Combating Human Trafficking. The full text of the statement is set out in Appendix V.
- 31. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of Azerbaijan and decided to request the Azerbaijani Government to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2025.

6.4. North Macedonia

- 32. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning North Macedonia.
- 33. Ms Svetlana Vlahovic Dimanovska (Head of Sector for negotiations and EU integration at the Ministry of Internal Affairs of North Macedonia) noted that GRETA's report was objective and provided valuable guidance. She referred to several previous recommendations which had been implemented, in particular adopting an inter-agency approach and strong partnerships with civil society, setting up five mobile teams at local level, and adopting a new Law on State Compensation with support from the Council of Europe.
- 34. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of North Macedonia and decided to request the Government of North Macedonia to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2025.

6.5. Poland

- 35. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning Poland.
- 36. Ms Marta Cłapka (Section Coordinator of the Team for Coordination of Counteracting Trafficking in Human Beings at the Ministry of the Interior and Administration of Poland), who joined online, thanked GRETA for its efforts to carry out the third evaluation visit to Poland during a difficult period, following Russia's aggression against Ukraine. She referred to the enormous task which faced Poland as a result of the arrival of millions of Ukrainian refugees and noted that all possible measures had been taken to ensure safe conditions for them. Further, she noted that GRETA's report had acknowledged certain positive changes, including legislative amendments, increased funding for victim assistance, and the organisation of information campaigns on trafficking. Ms Cłapka also referred to the recent organisation by the Council of Europe of a seminar in Warsaw on preventing and combating trafficking in human beings for the purpose of labour exploitation. The text of the statement made by Ms Cłapka is set out in Appendix VI.
- 37. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of Poland and decided to request the Polish Government to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2025.

6.6. Serbia

38. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning Serbia.

- 39. No representative of Serbia intervened.
- 40. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of Serbia and decided to request the Serbian Government to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2025.

6.7. Slovenia

- 41. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning Slovenia.
- 42. Ms Suzana Ivanovič (Ministry of the Interior of Slovenia), who joined the meeting online, thanked GRETA for the constructive dialogue during the third evaluation round and stated that the Inter-Ministerial Group of Trafficking would be guided by the recommendations and will address them. She referred to recent developments, including the adoption of a new national anti-trafficking Action Plan for 2023-2024 and legislative amendments to the Act on Compensation of Victims of Crime, enabling victims to apply for state compensation regardless of their nationality.
- 43. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of Slovenia and decided to request the Slovenian Government to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2025.

6.8. Spain

- 44. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the draft recommendation concerning Spain.
- 45. No Spanish representative intervened.
- 46. The Committee adopted the recommendation in respect of Spain and decided to request the Spanish Government to inform it of measures taken to comply with this recommendation by 16 June 2025.

Agenda item 7: Government reports submitted in reply to Committee of the Parties recommendations

- 47. The Chair of the Committee noted that, since the previous meeting of the Committee, reports concerning the steps taken to implement previous Committee of the Parties' recommendations had been submitted by the Governments of Albania, Bulgaria, Croatia, Denmark, Georgia, the Republic of Moldova, Montenegro and Romania, in the context of the third evaluation round of the Convention. The Chair invited the representatives of the countries concerned to take the floor concerning their authorities' replies to the Committee of the Parties' recommendations.
- 48. GRETA's President indicated that round-table meetings had been organised in all of the above-mentioned countries in 2022-2023 in order to discuss the implementation of the third round recommendations and ways in which the Council of Europe could provide further assistance.

7.1. Albania

- 49. Due to a technical problem, Ms Mimoza Qyra, Head of Anti-trafficking Sector at the Ministry of Interior could not participate online.
- 50. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the report submitted by Albania. Ms Gayer stated that according to the report submitted by the authorities, there was an important number of training activities on human trafficking, sensitisation of the general public, and the setting up of mobile

units for the detection of potential victims of trafficking. A new National Action Plan for the Fight against Trafficking in Human Beings has been adopted for the period 2021-2023. However, Ms Gayer noted the decrease in the number of investigations and prosecutions for human trafficking since the last GRETA report. The absence of compensation of trafficked persons also continued to be an issue of concern. Assistance to victims continued to be mainly provided in three NGO shelters, but the authorities did not indicate an increase in public funding to ensure the provision of effective assistance.

7.2. Bulgaria

- 51. Ms Ernesta Rousseva (Chief Expert of the Secretariat of the National Commission for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings of Bulgaria) referred to the organisation in January 2023 of high-level meetings between the Council of Europe, the OSCE and the Bulgarian authorities, in order to discuss ways to improve the national response to trafficking. Referring to the political instability in Bulgaria in the last years, she expressed hope that the new Government would treat the fight against human trafficking as a priority. Ms Rousseva highlighted some of the steps taken in response to the recommendation, including the adoption by the Prosecutor General's Office of detailed instructions for the organisation of the work of prosecutors in relation to pre-trial proceedings opened for trafficking in human beings, and the setting up of a working group to deal with the issues of data collection and victim compensation. No legislative changes had been made and the sustainability of the shelters for victims of trafficking was threatened by the lack of funding.
- 52. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the report presented. GRETA's President noted that the report submitted by the Bulgarian authorities did not address all the urgent issues included in GRETA's third report. Positive developments included the training provided to lawyers, social workers and psychologists, as well as volunteers, crisis centres and NGOs working with people fleeing the war in Ukraine. However, no legislative changes had been made to enable victims to effectively access compensation from offenders, the procedure for claiming state compensation had not been simplified, and no progress had been made on setting up a state compensation fund which uses confiscated assets from perpetrators. The budget of the National Commission for Combating Human Trafficking remained limited (around 230 000 euros per year), in particular the funding available for victim assistance and the running of specialised shelters. It was not indicated what measures had been taken to guarantee access to health care to all victims, nor whether steps had been taken to enshrine in law the recovery and reflection period.

7.3. Croatia

- 53. Mr Alen Tahiri (National Anti-Trafficking Coordinator and Director of the Government Office on Human Rights and the Rights of National Minorities of Croatia) thanked GRETA and the Secretariat for the fruitful discussions that had taken place in Zagreb in October 2022 during the round-table meeting. He also referred to the work underway for the preparation of a new national action plan for combating trafficking.
- 54. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the report presented by Croatia. GRETA's President noted that the report submitted by Croatia covered the most urgent recommendations arising from the third evaluation round. She welcomed the establishment by the Bar Association of a list of lawyers specialised in providing legal assistance to victims of trafficking, the provision of training on human trafficking to lawyers, and the implementation of three projects which provided social services to socially disadvantaged persons, including victims of trafficking. The authorities had reportedly taken steps to improve the identification and assistance to child victims of trafficking. On the other hand, it did not appear from the report that improvements had been made to enable victims of trafficking to receive compensation from perpetrators or the State. Further, there was still no provision on non-punishment of victims of trafficking in Croatian law, nor had any guidance for prosecutors been issued since GRETA's third evaluation report. The report provided a detailed overview of the rules related to the protection of victims and witnesses in criminal proceedings, but did not address concretely the recommendations to avoid re-traumatisation and intimidation of victims by perpetrators.

7.4. Denmark

55. Mr Niklas Johansen (Head of Division in the Ministry of Justice of Denmark), who joined online, noted that the Danish Government appreciated the continuous dialogue with GRETA and took the recommendations very seriously. He referred to the political agreement reached in December 2020 on the financial framework of the Danish police and the public prosecution service which added more financial resources to both authorities, including more resources to the police to handle cases of forced labour as well as the establishment of a new Special Crime Unit in the Police to assist police districts in cases related to trafficking. He further noted the publication in 2021 of a report by an inter-ministerial working group on initiatives to protect vulnerable foreign workers and victims of trafficking. In June 2022, a new provision of the Criminal Code, criminalising exploitation of workers under manifestly unreasonable conditions, had entered into force. The full text of Mr Johansen's statement is set out in Appendix VII.

56. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the report presented by Denmark. Ms Gayer welcomed the adoption of a new National Action Plan to Combat Trafficking for 2022-2025 and the increased funding for anti-trafficking action, as well as the number of training activities for professionals dealing with human trafficking cases. She noted that since GRETA's third evaluation report, there had been four judgments convicting five individuals for human trafficking for the purpose of sexual exploitation, and in three of these judgments the victims had been awarded compensation. The report further mentioned the publication of a guidance for staff at the Ellebæk immigration detention centre on how to act when confronted with a suspected case of human trafficking. However, no changes had been made to the criteria for awarding state compensation, and there had been no legal changes concerning the recovery and reflection period and residence permits for victims of trafficking. While the report referred to co-operation with NGOs, it was not evident how they were involved in the identification of victims of trafficking.

7.5. Georgia

- 57. Ms Ketevan Sarajishvili (Head of the International Relations and Legal Cooperation Department at the Ministry of Justice of Georgia), who joined online, highlighted the main steps reported in reply to the recommendation. She referred to the preparation of a handbook for the Permanent Group to identify victims, the training of the Permanent Group and the extension of the mandate of victim and witness coordinators to participate in criminal proceedings and provide support to victims. Further, she noted the considerable increase in the number of labour inspectors and the development of a special guideline on trafficking identification for labour inspectors. The full text of Ms Sarajishvili's statement is set out in Appendix VIII.
- 58. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the report presented by Georgia. Ms Gayer welcomed the adoption of the new National Action Plan on Combatting Trafficking for 2023-2024. She also noted that following an amendment to the Anti-trafficking Law, applying for state compensation was no longer conditional on failure to obtain compensation from the perpetrator. Another positive development was the adoption of a specific provision in the Law on Public Procurement making it possible to blacklist companies involved in human trafficking. Despite the improvements, Ms Gayer noted with concern that there was no information on how the authorities planned to enable trafficking victims to obtain compensation from the perpetrators in criminal proceedings. Further, there was little relevant new information regarding measures to improve the proactive identification of victims and the capacity of the Permanent Group in this regard. The authorities' report did not provide information on steps taken to ensure that human trafficking offences are not re-qualified as other offences which carry lighter penalties and deprive victims of trafficking of access to protection, support and compensation.

7.6. Republic of Moldova

59. Ms Diana Doroş (National Anti-Trafficking Coordinator) highlighted the importance of the recommendations in the reinforcement of the national efforts to properly implement the Anti-Trafficking Convention. She referred to the drafting of a new policy document for the period 2024-2028 that will continue the actions started on the basis of the National Strategy for Preventing and Combating trafficking for 2018-2023, the reform of the State Labour Inspectorate and the opening of a Barnahus-type integrated regional assistance centre for child victims and witnesses of crimes. The full text of Ms Doroş' statement is set out in Appendix IX.

60. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the report presented by the Republic of Moldova. Ms Gayer noted that a number of positive developments had taken place, including the issuing of guidelines and instructions with the aim of strengthening the investigation and prosecution of trafficking cases and facilitating the provision of assistance to human trafficking victims. Further, she informed that information materials had been distributed and an online campaign had been launched in order to prevent human trafficking among persons fleeing the war in Ukraine. Despite these improvements, GRETA's President noted that no steps had been taken to strengthen the human resources of the Permanent Secretariat dealing with the co-ordination of the implementation of the National Action Plan on Preventing and Combating Trafficking in Human Beings. She also noted that the child protection services remained understaffed and that limited progress appeared to have been made in the areas of preventing and combating trafficking for the purpose of labour exploitation and victims' access to compensation. The report does not provide information on measures taken to tackle the excessive length of criminal proceedings in human trafficking cases.

7.7. Montenegro

- 61. Ms Ivana Mašanović (Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Montenegro) affirmed the commitment of the Montenegrin authorities to combat human trafficking by ensuring an adequate implementation of the Convention. She informed the Committee that several activities were planned in this regard and that the Action Plan for 2024 would focus on the remaining challenges recognised. The full text of Ms Mašanović's statement is set out in Appendix X.
- 62. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the report submitted by Montenegro. Ms Gayer welcomed the development of information materials for foreign nationals, the increase in the number of criminal cases concerning trafficking, as well as the initiation of legislative amendments expanding the definition of trafficking in human beings and increasing the punishment for certain related provisions, the inclusion of a non-punishment provision and a separate offence on the sale of children. Further, she noted the increase in the number of labour inspectors, the adoption of standard operating procedures concerning the treatment of unaccompanied and separated children, and the upcoming establishment of a state shelter for children and youth victims of trafficking. However, she noted with concern that no victims of trafficking had benefited from free legal aid during the reporting period and that no victims of trafficking had exercised the right to compensation in criminal proceedings.

7.8. Romania

63. Ms Delia Negranu (Romanian National Agency against Trafficking in Persons), who joined online, stated that substantial efforts had been made in the reporting period by the Romanian authorities, including the appointment of a new national anti-trafficking coordinator within the Prime Minister Chancellery who will be assisted by a decision-making and strategic coordination committee, the revision of the National Referral Mechanism, and the launch of an application for the registration of all children arriving from Ukraine. The full text of Ms Negraru's statement is set out in Appendix XI.

64. The Chair invited GRETA's President to provide comments on the information presented in the report submitted by the Romanian authorities. Ms Gayer welcomed the organisation of campaigns to raise awareness about the risk of human trafficking among vulnerable groups, especially migrants and asylum seekers, including refugees from Ukraine, as well as children and young people. She also noted positive developments with regard to strengthening the criminal justice response, such as the creation of new posts of financial investigation officers, and an increase in the average sentences given to traffickers. However, Ms Gayer highlighted that there was a lack of clarity about the budgetary allocation for the implementation of the revised National Identification and Referral Mechanism, as well as the absence of specific measures to facilitate access to judicial public aid for victims who wish to claim compensation in civil proceedings. She also mentioned the absence of a victim compensation fund and the lack of staff in the Labour Inspectorate. Finally, she pointed out that limited progress appeared to have been made with regard to victims' access to safe accommodation, their reintegration into society and the provision of adequate funding to NGOs.

Agenda item 8: Information on activities aimed at strengthening the implementation of GRETA's conclusions and the Committee of the Parties' recommendations

65. The Chair gave the floor to the Executive Secretary to update the Committee on co-operation activities. The Executive Secretary informed the Committee of the recent organisation of a seminar in Warsaw to promote implementation of the new Committee of Ministers Recommendation on trafficking for labour exploitation and to start the preparation of a checklist for examining compliance with the recommendation. The revision of the HELP online course on human trafficking was progressing well and the course was expected to be made available in the autumn. A regional round-table meeting on the role of the financial sector in combating human trafficking was being planned for September, in Sarajevo. The next meeting of the network of lawyers specialised to provide assistance to victims of trafficking would take place in October 2023. Further, the Executive Secretary referred to the round-table meetings in Bulgaria, Denmark, Georgia, Montenegro and Romania, to discuss progress in the implementation of the recommendations made by GRETA and the Committee of the Parties in the context of the third round of evaluation of the Convention. The Executive Secretary also referred to the anti-trafficking co-operation projects which continued in North Macedonia, Serbia and Bosnia and Herzegovina, as well as the new project in Malta.

Agenda item 9: Information on the anti-trafficking activities of other Council of Europe bodies and international organisations of interest to the Committee of the Parties

66. The Chair gave the floor to the Executive Secretary to provide relevant information. The Executive Secretary updated the Committee on the progress of the revision of the EU Directive on combating trafficking in human beings (2011/36/EU) and the forthcoming exchange between the EU Anti-Trafficking Co-ordinator and GRETA. She also provided examples of synergies between the Council of Europe and the OSCE in the area of combating human trafficking, such as the recent joint meeting of national anti-trafficking coordinators and rapporteurs, and the forthcoming regional round-table on the role of financial institutions in preventing and detecting human trafficking, in Sarajevo in September 2023.

Agenda item 10: Dates of future meetings

67. The Committee decided to hold its next meeting in the course of December 2023.

Agenda item 11: Other business

Agenda item 12: Adoption of the list of decisions taken

68. The Committee approved the decisions taken at the meeting, namely the election of the Chair and Vice-Chair for a one-year term of office, the adoption of the amendments to the Rules of Procedure of the Committee of the Parties to the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings introducing the new Rule 3.1 "Restriction of participation of a Party", the application of the new Rule 3.1 to Belarus, and the adoption of recommendations in respect of Estonia, Greece, Azerbaijan, North Macedonia, Poland, Serbia, Slovenia and Spain.

Appendix I Agenda

- 1. Opening of the meeting
- 2. Adoption of the draft agenda
- 3. Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee of the Parties
- 3a. Modalities of participation of Belarus in the work of the Committee of the Parties to the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings
- 4. State of signatures and ratifications of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings
- 5. Exchange of views with the President of GRETA
- 6. Examination of GRETA's reports on the implementation of the Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings by Estonia and Greece (second evaluation round) and Azerbaijan, North Macedonia, Poland, Serbia, Slovenia and Spain (third evaluation round) and adoption of recommendations in respect of these Parties

Second evaluation round

- 6.1. Estonia
- 6.2. Greece

Third evaluation round

- 6.3. Azerbaijan
- 6.4. North Macedonia
- 6.5. Poland
- 6.6. Serbia
- 6.7. Slovenia
- 6.8. Spain
- 7. Government reports submitted in reply to Committee of the Parties recommendations

Third evaluation round

- 7.1. Albania
- 7.2. Bulgaria
- 7.3. Croatia
- 7.4. Denmark
- 7.5. Georgia
- 7.6. Republic of Moldova
- 7.7. Montenegro
- 7.8. Romania
- 8. Information on activities aimed at strengthening the implementation of GRETA's conclusions and the Committee of the Parties' recommendations
- 9. Information on the anti-trafficking activities of other Council of Europe bodies and international organisations of interest to the Committee of the Parties
- 10. Dates of future meetings
- 11. Other business
- 12. Adoption of the list of decisions taken

Appendix II List of participants

Members of the Committee of the Parties Membres du Comité des Parties

ALBANIA / ALBANIE

Mr Dastid Koreshi Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Sidita Gjipali Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Mimoza Qyra Head of Anti-trafficking Sector Ministry of Interior

ANDORRA / ANDORRE

M. Joan Forner Rovira Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiaire Représentant Permanent auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mme Olimpia Torres Représentante Permanente adjointe auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mme Eva Garcia Lluelles (online / en ligne) Chef de la Section des Relations Internationales et Coopération juridique Département de la Justice et de l'interieur

ARMENIA / ARMÉNIE

Ms Lena Terzikyan Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Viktoria Melkumova (online / en ligne)
Third Secretary of the Division of Cooperation with
International Monitoring Bodies
Department of Human Rights and Humanitarian Issues
Ministry of Foreign Affairs

AUSTRIA / AUTRICHE

Mr Andreas Lins Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe Mr Wolfgang Spadinger Head of Unit for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings; border traffic; appeal procedures Federal Ministry for European and International Affairs

AZERBAIJAN / AZERBAÏDJAN

Mr Tale Aliyev Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Mr Samir Garayev (online / en ligne)
Head of Division, Main Department on Combating
Trafficking in Human Beings, Ministry of Internal
Affairs

BELARUS/ BÉLARUS

Mr Kyrill Hrusheuski *(online / en ligne)* Embassy of Belarus in France

BELGIUM / BELGIQUE

M. Jean-Cedric Janssens de Bisthoven (Vice-Chair / Vice-président)
Ambassadeur extraordinaire et plénipotentiaire
Représentant Permanent
auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mr Jean-François Minet (online / en ligne)
Attaché
Ministry of Justice
General Directorate Legislation, Civil Liberties and
Fundamental Rights
Criminal Policy Service
Organised Crime Unit
Trafficking and smuggling in human beings

BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA/BOSNIE-HERZEGOVINE

Mr Almir Hasecic Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

BULGARIA / BULGARIE

Ms Maria Spassova *(Chair / Présidente)*Ambassador
Permanent Representative
to the Council of Europe

Ms Boyana Trifonova Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Ernesta Rousseva (online / en ligne) Chief Expert Secretariat of the National Commission for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings

CROATIA / CROATIE

Mr Alen Tahiri Director of the Governments Office on Human Rights and the Rights of National Minorities National Co-ordinator for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings

CYPRUS / CHYPRE

Mr Kostas Psevdiotis Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Nantia Andreopoulou Administrative Officer Ministry of Interior

CZECH REPUBLIC / RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE

Mr Petr Válek Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Mr Ondřej Abrham Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Helena Klima Lišuchová Head of International Cooperation and EU Department Ministry of Justice

DENMARK / DANEMARK

Mr Erik Laursen Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative

Mr Niklas V. Johansen *(online / en ligne)* Head of Division Danish Ministry of Justice

Mr Mathias Albertsen *(online / en ligne)*Danish national rapporteur
Danish Centre against Human Trafficking

ESTONIA / ESTONIE

Mr Silver Küngas Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Anu Leps *(online / en ligne)* Advisor - Analysis Division Criinal Policy Department Ministry of Justice

FINLAND / FINLANDE

Ms Elina Soininen *(online / en ligne)* Legal Officer Unit for Human Rights Courts and Conventions Ministry for Foreign Affairs

FRANCE

M. Léopold Stefanini Adjoint à la Représentante Permanente auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mme Roxana Maracineanu Secrétaire générale de la Mission interministérielle pour la protection des femmes contre les violences et la lutte contre la traite des êtres humains (Miprof)

GEORGIA / GÉORGIE

Ms Tamar Taliashvili Ambassador Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Salome Salukvadze Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Ketevan Sarajishvili (online / en ligne)
Head of the International Relations and Legal
Cooperation Department
Ministry of Justice of Georgia

Mr Shota Chitanava *(online / en ligne)* Senior Specialist International Relations and Legal Cooperation Department Ministry of Justice of Georgia

Ms Ana Gvinjilia *(online / en ligne)*Head of the International Legal Cooperation Unit International Relations and Legal Cooperation Department
Ministry of Justice of Georgia

· ,

GERMANY / ALLEMAGNE

Mr Florian Wehner
Policy Officer
Division 402
Combating Trafficking of Human Beings and Prostitute
Protection Act
Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens,
Women and Youth

GREECE / GRECE

Mr Michael Nakos *(online / en ligne)*Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

HUNGARY / HONGRIE

Mr Zoltán Turai Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Dr Nóra Jakubovich *(online / en ligne)* Head of Unit Unit for Counter Trafficking and Horizontal Issues Ministry of Interior

Mr Márton Berkes *(online / en ligne)* Senior Police Officer

Mr Mátyás Földvári *(online / en ligne)* Government Counsellor

ICELAND / ISLANDE

Ms Ragnhildur Arnljótsdóttir Ambassador Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Kristín Jónsdóttir *(online / en ligne)* Legal Advisor Department of public security and criminal justice Ministry of Justice Borgartúni 26, 105 Reykjavík, Iceland

IRELAND / IRLANDE

Mr David Kehoe Assistant Principal Economic, Transnational, Organised Crime Division Department of Justice

ISRAEL / ISRAËL

Ms Ayelet Dahan Deputy to the National Anti-Trafficking Coordinator Ministry of Justice

ITALY / ITALIE

Mr Gianluca Puliga *(online / en ligne)*Director of the Service for International Relations and General Affairs
Department for Equal Opportunities
Prime Minister's Office

Ms Serenella Martini *(online / en ligne)*Officer
Department For Equal Opportunities
Prime Minister's Office

LATVIA / LETTONIE

Mr Jānis Kārkliņš (online / en ligne)
Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary
Permanent Representative
to the Council of Europe

LIECHTENSTEIN

Ms Vera Hasler Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

LITHUANIA / LITUANIE

Mr Aurimas Tumenas Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

LUXEMBOURG

M. Patrick Engelberg Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiaire Représentant Permanent auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mme Roberta Spoto Adjointe au Représentant Permanent auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

MALTA / MALTE

Ms Francesca Camilleri Vettiger Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Lynn Chircop Faure *(online / en ligne)*Senior Manager
Human Rights Directorate

REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA / REPUBLIQUE DE MOLDOVA

Mr Andrei Ursu Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Diana Doros National Co-ordinator Head of the Coordination Directorate in the field of human rights and social dialogue State Chancellery

MONACO

M. Gabriel Revel Chargé d'affaires a.i. Représentant permanent adjoint auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mlle Margaux Girardin (online / en ligne) Elève stagiaire fonctionnaire Département des Relations Extérieures et de la Coopération de Monaco

MONTENEGRO / MONTÉNÉGRO

Ms Ivana Masanovic Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

NETHERLANDS / PAYS BAS

Ms Asta Breedveld Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Anouk Rooijers (online / en ligne)
Ministry of Justice and Security
Directorate General for Justice and Law Enforcement
Department of Organised Crime

NORTH MACEDONIA / MACÉDOINE DU NORD

Ms Sanja Mitrovska Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Svetlana Vlahovic Dimanovska Head of Sector for negotiations and EU integration Department for EU and International Cooperation Ministry of Internal Affairs

NORWAY / NORVÈGE

Mr Jan Austad *(online / en ligne)*Senior Adviser
Ministry of Justice and Public Security

POLAND / POLOGNE

Mr Jerzy Baurski Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe Mr Rafał Czarski Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Marta Clapka *(online / en ligne)*Section Coordinator
Team for the Coordination of Counteracting Trafficking in Human Beings
Department for International Affairs and Migration
Ministry of the Interior and Administration

PORTUGAL

Ms Marta Saraiva Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Mr Manuel Albano National Rapporteur – Trafficking in Human Beings Commission for Citizenship and Gender Equality Presidency of the Council of Ministers

ROMANIA / ROUMANIE

Ms Bianca Mina Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Delia Negraru *(online / en ligne)* Romanian National Agency Against Trafficking in Persons

SAN MARINO / SAINT-MARIN

Mr Eros Gasperoni Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

SERBIA / SERBIE

Mr Darko Ninkov Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

SLOVAK REPUBLIC / RÉPUBLIQUE SLOVAQUE

Ms Oksana Tomová Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Soňa Grauzlová *(online / en ligne)*Head
Information Centre for Combating Trafficking in
Human Beings and for Crime Prevention
Ministry of the Interior

Ms Michaela Žáková (online / en ligne) Senior Officer Information Centre for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings and for Crime Prevention Ministry of the Interior

SLOVENIA / SLOVÉNIE

Ms Tjaša Pečan Deputy Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Mr Helmut Hartman Legal Adviser

Ms Eva Feltrin Trainee

Ms Suzana Ivanovič *(online / en ligne)* Ministry of the Interior

SPAIN / ESPAGNE

Apologised for absence / excusé

SWEDEN / SUÈDE

Ms Charlotte Eklund Rimsten Deputy Director Ministry of Justice Division for Criminal Law

SWITZERLAND / SUISSE

M. Claude Wild Ambassadeur Représentant Permanent auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

Mme Sophie Heegaard-Schroeter Adjointe au Représentant permanent auprès du Conseil de l'Europe

TÜRKIYE

Ms Nurdan Bayraktar Golder Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Nurgül İşçi, Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe Mr Furkan Buldur *(online / en ligne)*Assistant Migration Expert
Presidency of Migration Management
Department of Protection of Victims of Human
Trafficking

UKRAINE

Mr Iaroslav Zhydenko Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Ms Olena Maslova *(online / en ligne)*Head of the Expert Group on Combating Trafficking in Human Beings
Domestic Violence and Gender Equality
Directorate for Digital Development and Social Services
Ministry of Social Policy

Ms Ilona Shkliaruk *(online / en ligne)*Chief Specialist of the Expert Group on Combating
Trafficking in Human Beings
Domestic Violence and Gender Equality
Directorate for Digital Development and Social Services
Ministry of Social Policy

UNITED KINGDOM / ROYAUME-UNI

Mr Faraan Sayed Deputy to the Permanent Representative to the Council of Europe

Participants of the Committee of the Parties Participants du Comité des Parties

COUNCIL OF EUROPE BODIES /
ORGANES DU CONSEIL DE L'EUROPE

PARLIAMENTARY ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL OF EUROPE / ASSEMBLÉE PARLEMENTAIRE DU CONSEIL DE L'EUROPE

Ms Diana Stoica (apologised/excusée) Chairperson of the PACE Sub-Committee on Migrant Smuggling and Trafficking in Human Beings PACE Rapporteur on the precarious status of crossborder and seasonal workers in Europe Member of the Romanian Parliament

COMMISSIONER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS

Ms Dunja Mijatović (apologised/excusée)

Observers of the Committee of the Parties Observateurs du Comité des Parties

Others / Autres

GROUP OF EXPERTS ON ACTION AGAINST TRAFFICKING IN HUMAN BEINGS / GROUPE D'EXPERTS SUR LA LUTTE CONTRE LA TRAITE DES ETRES HUMAINS (GRETA)

Ms Helga Gayer President of GRETA

Secretariat / Secrétariat

Directorate General of Democracy and Human, Dignity / Direction générale de la démocratie et de la dignité humaine

Secretariat of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings (GRETA and Committee of the Parties) / Secrétariat de la Convention du Conseil de l'Europe sur la lutte contre la traite des êtres humains (GRETA et Comité des Parties)

Ms Petya Nestorova Executive Secretary

Ms Teresa Armengol de la Hoz Administrator

Mr Mesut Bedirhanoglu Administrator

Ms Parvine Ghadami Administrator

Mr Roemer Lemaître Administrator

Ms Asja Žujo Administrator

Mr Yuriy Paltsev Administrator

Ms Jackie Renaudin-Siddall Administrative Assistant Secretariat of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe / Secrétariat de l'Assemblée parlementaire du Conseil de l'Europe

Ms Marie Martin Co-ordinator of the Subcommittee on Smuggling and Trafficking PACE Committee on Migration Refugees and Displaced Persons and its Sub-Committee on Migrant Smuggling and Trafficking in Human Beings

Interpreters / Interprètes

Ms Clarissa Worsdale Ms Bettina Ludewig Ms Isabelle Marchini

Appendix III

Revised Rules of Procedure of the Committee of the Parties to the Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings – document CP(2020)01

Rule 3 – Restricted composition

The Committee may decide to hold sessions in a more restricted composition than that outlined in rule 2 above; however, it may not restrict the participation of members in any session, except in accordance with Rule 3.1.

Rule 3.1 – Restriction of participation of a Party

The Committee may decide on measures to restrict the participation in its work of a Party that has ceased to be a member of the Council of Europe following the procedure launched under Article 8 of the Statute of the Council of Europe for a serious violation of Article 3 of the Statute. Similarly, measures restricting the participation of a Party can be taken in respect of any non-member state of the Council of Europe concerned by a Committee of Minister decision restricting or suspending relations with it.

Such restriction may include, but is not limited to, the following:

- a. Restriction of the ability to be elected or act as a chair, vice-chair or member of the bureau of the Committee of the Parties;
- Restriction of attendance at meetings (no attendance), while retaining access only to documents related to the monitoring of the implementation of the Convention by the Party concerned and the ability to provide comments in writing;
- c. Limitation of participation to the provision of information and explanations regarding compliance with the obligations under the Convention, with the right to vote, as well as to discussions on proposals for amendments to the treaty and relating to the interpretation of the treaty and/or general guidance in respect of its implementation;
- d. Restriction of the ability to nominate candidates for election as GRETA members;
- e. Restriction of participation in any working groups set up by the Committee.

Any Member of the Committee can submit a reasoned proposal for such a decision to be taken. No participants or observers shall be present during the Committee's examination of the matter. It will be deemed that the proposal has been accepted if it receives two-thirds majority of the votes cast and the decision taken shall have immediate effect.

Once the reasons for the imposition of the restriction or limitation cease to exist, a member concerned can propose to the Committee that the restriction or limitation to participation be lifted. It will be deemed that the proposal has been accepted if it receives two-thirds majority of the votes cast and the decision taken shall have immediate effect.

The restriction or limitation of the participation in the Committee in no way prejudices the rights and obligations that stem from the Convention for the Parties and the financial contribution to the budget of the monitoring mechanism under the Convention.

Appendix IV

Statement by Ms Helga GAYER, President of GRETA

Madame Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen,

Having been re-elected as GRETA's President in March, I am delighted to participate once again in the traditional exchange with the Committee of the Parties.

Two days ago, GRETA published the 12th general report on its activities, covering the calendar year 2022, which you have in front of you. I would like to use the occasion of this meeting to highlight some of parts of this report.

The year 2022 was marked by Russia's military aggression against Ukraine, provoking the largest displacement of people in Europe since the Second World War and raising concerns about the risks of the humanitarian crisis being used by traffickers to exploit vulnerable women and children fleeing the war. Throughout the year, GRETA's activities were impacted by the war in Ukraine in many different ways, and it is therefore not surprising that GRETA decided to dedicate a thematic chapter in its latest General Report to preventing and detecting trafficking in human beings following Russia's aggression against Ukraine. The chapter summarises the contents of GRETA's Guidance Note on addressing the risks of trafficking in human beings related to the war in Ukraine, with examples of how different State Parties have reacted to prevent risks of trafficking and exploitation of Ukrainian refugees.

Since the outbreak of the war, GRETA has been collecting information on steps taken to prevent and limit the risks of trafficking of Ukrainian refugees, as well as on any detected cases. The number of confirmed cases of human trafficking of Ukrainian refugees is still low, which may be a sign of the success of the early preventive measures taken to protect Ukrainian refugees and mitigate the risks of trafficking. An important preventive mechanism was the activation by the European Union of its Temporary Protection Directive, establishing official and safe legal routes for people fleeing the war in Ukraine, and offering them a comprehensive set of assistance measures. Countries outside the EU also rapidly activated their own set of protection measures, which is essential to mitigate the risks of trafficking.

The mobilisation of the national authorities, civil society and the international community, and the level of awareness-raising on trafficking related to the war in Ukraine are very high compared to other humanitarian crises. However, trafficking in human beings has always been considered as an "invisible crime" and the use of new technologies to facilitate trafficking makes it even more difficult to detect. The social and economic vulnerabilities of the millions of people affected by the war in Ukraine are likely to increase as time goes on. That is why co-ordinated action and rapid exchange of information at national and international level are crucial to prevent trafficking, detect potential victims, and investigate and prosecute any detected cases. GRETA will continue to monitor the situation and collect relevant information.

Our collective duty is to ensure that the fight against human trafficking remains at the top of the agenda. The unprecedented situation stemming from the war in Ukraine must be an opportunity for States to design and implement comprehensive strategies to deal more effectively with the risks of human trafficking faced by all people seeking international protection.

Since your last meeting in November 2022, GRETA has finalised and published eight reports (two under the second evaluation round, concerning **Estonia** and **Greece**, and six under the third evaluation round, concerning **Azerbaijan**, **North Macedonia**, **Poland**, **Serbia**, **Slovenia** and **Spain**). These reports are the subject of draft recommendations submitted to you for consideration and adoption today.

As evidenced by GRETA's reports, there have been a number of improvements in states' responses to human trafficking, including the adoption of new legislation and national strategies or action plans to combat human trafficking, many of which reflect previous recommendations made by GRETA and the Committee of the Parties. Some countries have set up or reinforced their co-ordination structures and specialised anti-trafficking bodies, others have appointed independent national anti-trafficking rapporteurs. Moreover, the funding provided to action against human trafficking and in particular the assistance to victims has increased in some of the countries concerned.

However, there are persisting gaps and new challenges, including those linked to the increasing use of information and communication technology. Some of the problems in the implementation of GRETA's recommendations are due to lack of political will, resources or training. For example, the low number of convictions for human trafficking is a concern raised in many GRETA reports. Human trafficking cases are complex crimes, frequently with a transnational dimension, and often involving multiple victims and perpetrators. Lack of resources and prioritisation result in low prosecution and conviction rates. Over-reliance on victims' testimonies and the quick return of victims to their countries of origin is another factor which impacts the authorities' ability to prosecute and convict traffickers. Further, the lack of effective access to compensation for victims of trafficking is a problem highlighted by GRETA in all the countries which are subject to discussion today.

In 2022, GRETA followed an intensive work schedule, including four plenary meetings and 13 country evaluation visits, which is the highest number of evaluations in any given year organised by GRETA so far. After the delay caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, GRETA is back on track, aiming to complete the third round of evaluation of the Convention in respect of most state parties this year. At its forthcoming plenary meeting in two weeks' time, GRETA will approve the questionnaire for the fourth evaluation round of the Convention and will start sending it to the first countries that will undergo the fourth evaluation. For this new round of evaluation of the Convention, GRETA intends to focus on preventing and detecting vulnerabilities to human trafficking, as well as the impact of information and communication technology on trafficking in human beings. At the same time, we will follow up on a number of issues which remain to be addressed in each country.

GRETA could not have performed this intensive programme of activities without the unfailing support provided by its Secretariat, which was temporarily reinforced in 2022 as a result of the relocation of the unspent budget from the years affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. GRETA hopes that this reinforcement will be made permanent, reflecting the increase in the number of State Parties to the Convention and in the volume of activities, which are not only related to monitoring work, but also to a range of follow-up activities, such as round-table meetings, studies, capacity building and networking.

Last week, here in Strasbourg, the Council of Europe joined forces with the OSCE to co-organise the sixth annual meeting of National Anti-trafficking Co-ordinators and Rapporteurs, bringing together participants from some 60 countries from the Council of Europe and OSCE regions, and beyond. The meeting focused on better identifying and assisting victims of transnational trafficking, enhancing proactive use of financial investigations, understanding and addressing trafficking in human beings for the purpose of forced criminality, and ways to enhance the mandates and roles of the National Anti-trafficking Co-ordinators and Rapporteurs.

The Council of Europe action against trafficking in human beings was the subject of a recent evaluation by the Directorate of Internal Oversight. The report from the independent evaluation assessed both 'what' changes were observed and 'why' they have been achieved. According to the report, there is unequivocal evidence that monitoring and co-operation projects have contributed to increasing State Parties' compliance with the Convention, prompting changes to legislation, policies and practice. The report also noted that monitoring activities in the period 2016-2021 contributed to triggering 46 changes in legislation, 38 at the policy level and 76 in practice (in 38 different states that were monitored during this period).

This illustrates how the monitoring mechanism of the Council of Europe Anti-Trafficking Convention - GRETA and the Committee of the Parties working in tandem - is an integral contributing factor to legislative and policy change. We must make sure that the Council of Europe, being the leading human rights organisation of the European continent, remains actively engaged in combating human trafficking in its member States and beyond, in partnership with other international organisations and civil society, in the spirit of the Reykjavik Declaration.

Thank you for your attention.

Appendix V

Statement by Mr Tale Aliyev, Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Azerbaijan to the Council of Europe and Mr Samir Garayev,

Police Colonel, Head of Division at the Main Department on Combating Against Human Trafficking of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of Azerbaijan

Dear Madam Chairperson,

At the outset, we wish to congratulate you and vice-chair on your election and wish you all the success during your tenure.

As a general remark, first, we would like to state that Azerbaijan is committed to pursuing a comprehensive approach to fighting against human trafficking. To this end, the standards and institutional settings of the Council of Europe make a valuable contribution to the development, implementation and evaluation of the policies in the respective field.

In this context, my authorities appreciate the constructive co-operation with GRETA. The third evaluation round of the Convention on Azerbaijan has offered another good opportunity to pursue this cooperation. We would like to extend our gratitude to the experts of the GRETA, Madam Ia Dadunashvili and Mr Georgios Vanikiotis, as well as the representatives of the Secretariat, Mr Mesut Bedirhanoglu and Ms Parvine Ghadami for their hard work during their visit to Azerbaijan, also throughout this exercise.

We are pleased to note that a number of positive developments and the progress achieved in Azerbaijan over the past period in combatting the human trafficking have been acknowledged in the report. Among them, we wish to point out the adoption of the latest National Action Plan to Combat Human Trafficking for the years of 2020 – 2024. The objective of this Action Plan, which also takes into account the recommendations of GRETA from the previous evaluation rounds, is to ensure the sustainability of measures taken to combat human trafficking, increase the efficiency of interaction between government agencies, ensure the implementation of respective international obligations of Azerbaijan and as well as involve civil society actors in this important process.

As regards the overall assessments of the situation on access to justice and effective remedies for victims of trafficking, as well as some other specific questions in the report concerning Azerbaijan, we have thoroughly considered them and the views and comments received from relevant state bodies of Azerbaijan have been submitted to the GRETA before its approval. We note that the position of Azerbaijani authorities on a number of issues have been reflected in the final report accordingly. Therefore, we don't intend to focus on them in our present intervention, but to reassure that the Government of Azerbaijan is faithful to move forward in bringing the national practice into full compliance with the Convention.

In this connection, we would like just to highlight the most recent measures that have been taken on combating human trafficking in the last 6 months, which also address some of the recommendations in question:

- So, in order to guarantee access to justice, the number of lawyers providing legal assistance to the
 victims of human trafficking have been increased recently. The contracts were signed between
 these lawyers and the Main Department on Combatting Against Human Trafficking, and their
 salaries are paid by the Ministry of Internal Affairs;
- Furthermore, the contract was concluded between the State Assistance Fund and a member of the Bar Association for the provision of legal assistance in filing a civil lawsuit in court on behalf of victims of human trafficking;

To prevent the risks of human trafficking of foreigners and stateless persons, the analysis of the domestic situation related to their activity in the service sector was included among the main tasks of the Interagency Commission, and the rules of the National Referral Mechanism were amended

in this regard;

- Furthermore, in order to more precisely define the status of the Working Group on Combating Against Human Trafficking under the National Coordinator, the Law on Combating THB was amended and the Rules of Procedures of the Working Group was approved by the Cabinet of Ministries last month, on 16 may. I should note that the new rules also envisage the involvement of the civil society actors in the work of the Working Group. To this end, the Ministry of Internal Affairs has already sent a request to the Coalition of the NGOs with a view to ensuring their participation in the Working Group;

- As part of development of the legislative framework, the further relevant amendments and additions have been made to the four Codes and six Laws of the Republic of Azerbaijan last December. These changes in the legislation are mainly related to the protection of children against sexual exploitation and sexual abuse, which is also critical in view of preventing and combatting the trafficking of children;
- The rules for receiving a victim of human trafficking to the state shelter and assistance centre has been simplified, and the service passport is drawn up for the victims of human trafficking on the spot;
- The confidential database for the services and the result of those services for the victims of human trafficking which are carried out in the state shelter has been established;
- Furthermore, for ensuring the professional psychological assistance to the victim human trafficking, the psychologists have been involved in the work of the state shelter;
- Last but not least, the methodological manual on operational measures to prevent and prosecute human trafficking crimes has been prepared and put into use.

To conclude, we wish once again thank the GRETA and the Secretariat for their co-operation. We look forward to continue our fruitful collaboration in implementing the relevant recommendations that will be adopted today by the Committee of the Parties.

Appendix VI

Statement by Ms Marta Cłapka,
Section Coordinator,
Team for the Coordination of Counteracting Trafficking in Human Beings
Department for International Affairs and Migration,
Ministry of Interior and Administration, Poland

Poland appreciates GRETA's efforts to prepare not only the report, which assesses for the third time Poland's implementation of the Council of Europe Convention on action against trafficking in human beings but also evaluation itself. For Poland it was an extremely interesting experience considering mainly the political situation in Europe. We met with representatives of GRETA at a special time when we were facing a migration crisis on our Eastern border. Hostilities on the territory of Ukraine cause for example movement of large groups of refugees on the territory of Poland, especially women and children. All measures and countermeasures were launched throughout Poland in order to ensure maximum safe conditions for people fleeing the war. These activities have been given the highest priority.

We appreciate that positive changes was noticed by GRETA's delegation as regards internal activates aimed at counteracting THB in Poland. The progress has been made in several areas, including legislative changes and increased funding for victim assistance. We have some successes as regards prevention and awareness raising through information campaigns.

Poland has so far implemented a number of comprehensive measures to combat trafficking in human beings aimed at for example early diagnosis of trafficking in human beings, continuous monitoring of this phenomenon, providing support and protection to victims, conducting training or proposing legislative changes.

Poland still makes constant efforts to properly address current problems and in view of changing trends. We remain determined to take necessary measures to comply with proposed recommendations especially as regards combating trafficking for the purpose of labour exploitation and improving the criminal justice response.

..... 5. (2025). 6. 6. 25

Appendix VII

Statement by Mr Niklas V. Johansen, Head of Division, Ministry of Justice, Denmark

- Thank you for the opportunity to briefly present the report submitted by Denmark on measures taken to comply with the recommendations from the Committee of the Parties from June 2021.
- The Danish Government is taking the evaluations and recommendations from GRETA very seriously
 and appreciates the continuous dialogue with GRETA regarding issues related to human trafficking.
- I am representing the Danish Ministry of Justice, but several other ministries and authorities have contributed to the report.
- The Danish authorities are continuously working to prevent and fight human trafficking and improve the efforts where necessary. I will just briefly mention a couple of the initiatives taken in recent years.
- In December 2020 a political agreement regarding the financial framework of the Danish police and Prosecution Service was reached. The agreement added more resources to the Danish police and the Public Prosecution Service in general and also added resources to the police to handle cases regarding forced labour. The agreement also ensured the establishment of a new Special Crime Unit (NSK) in the Police with the main objective to strengthen the investigation and prosecution against the most complex economic and organized crime. The unit is also able to handle or provide assistance to the police districts in certain cases regarding THB.
- In 2021 an inter-ministerial working group, which was tasked to work with initiatives to protect
 vulnerable foreign workers and victims of THB, published a report with recommendations based
 on a thorough analysis of a broad range of issues related to human trafficking. The working group
 also looked at experiences from other countries.
- The recommendations from the working group from September 2021 were used to form the Danish National Action Plan to Combat Trafficking in Human Beings 2022-2025. They were also the background for a new provision in the Danish Criminal Code criminalizing exploitation of workers under manifestly unreasonable conditions. The new provision entered into force June 1 2022.
- Combatting human trafficking remains a priority for the Danish Government and Danish authorities and from our side we find the dialogue with GRETA very valuable in this regard.
- We are looking forward to continue the cooperation and the dialogue. Thank you.

Appendix VIII

Statement by Ms Ketevan Sarajishvili, Head of the International Relations and Legal Cooperation Department Ministry of Justice, Georgia

<u>Implementation of GRETA Recommendations by the Georgian Authorities</u>

- Thank you and good afternoon everybody!
- On behalf of the Government of Georgia and the Ministry of Justice, I'm delighted to be part of this meeting. Regretfully, we did not manage to join you in person, however, I will try to cover most of the topics and recommendations of the expert group which have already been implemented by the Georgian authorities.
- ⇒ Indeed, Georgia's priority is to efficiently combat human trafficking and apply so called "4P" principle in practice.
- ⇒ For that reason, we equally put and diverse resources to prevent crime, proactively identify the cases, protect victims and provide sufficient services, and extend partnership local-wise and at international level.
- ⇒ All these measures are reflected in the National Action Plan for 2023-2024, which is coordinated and monitored by the Interagency Anti-Trafficking Council, chaired by the Minister of Justice.
- ⇒ External evaluations are always the best judges for the quality of domestic anti-trafficking efforts. I cannot avoid mentioning the very recent US TIP Report which was published yesterday. Georgia remains in Tier 1, the highest ranking position, and shares the leading position among 30 countries out of assessed 188 states.
- ⇒ Obviously, we do acknowledge that there is always room for improvement and in this pass, GRETA always remains for us as a hand-to-hand partner and provides very on-point recommendations to upgrade our anti-trafficking policy.
- ⇒ Let me provide information about the progress and implementation of GRETA's most recent recommendations:

Protection Cluster:

- ⇒ Here we had 6 recommendations; 5 of them are already implemented and 1 remaining is pending.
- ⇒ For the effective implementation of the recommendations:
 - we have amended the legislation to make easier for the potential victims/victims to get one-off state run compensation, without any preconditions,
 - o we have updated the victim identification questionnaire;
 - o we have elaborated a special THB handbook for the Permanent Group to identify victims;
 - o we have trained members of the Permanent Group;
 - we have extended the mandate of victim and witness coordinators to participate in criminal proceedings and provide sufficient support to victims.

Prevention and Identification Cluster mostly focusing on labour exploitation cases:

⇒ Also, here we had 6 recommendations; 5 of them are already implemented and 1 is in the process of implementation.

- ⇒ For the rapid translation of GRETA recommendations into concrete actions:
 - We have ensured the full implementation of the Labour Safety Code;
 - We have installed an institutional guarantee for the application of the Law;
 - A Memorandum of Understanding was signed between the Criminal Police Department and the Labour Inspectorate Service;
 - We have increased the number of labour inspectors;
 - The special guideline on THB identification for labour inspectors was developed;
 - o We have conducted public outreach activities and held information meetings.
- ⇒ Obviously, this is very nutshell of the progress of Georgian authorities. The full version of our report is provided to the Secretariat and I believe it will be accessible online.
- ⇒ Thank you for your attention and for any further questions, I remain at your disposal.

Appendix IX

Statement by Ms Diana Doroş, National Co-ordinator, Head of the Co-ordination Directorate in the field of human rights and social dialogue, State Chancellery, Republic of Moldova

Dear members of the Committee Parties, Dear participants,

On behalf of the Government of the Republic of Moldova, I would like to reconfirm the commitment in further strengthening efforts in implementing the provisions of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings and reiterate our acknowledgement to the Group of Experts on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings for the efforts in producing the Third evaluation round Report on the actions taken by the Republic of Moldova. The recommendations of the Report have an important role for reinforcing the efforts of the state in the implementation of the Convention.

In this context, I would like to mention some updated information to that presented in the Report of the Republic of Moldova.

- 1. The Republic of Moldova is in the process of drafting the new policy document in the field of preventiong and combating THB for the years 2024-2028. The new policy document will continue the actions started on the basis of the National Strategy for Preventing and Combating THB for the years 2018-2023 and will strengthen the antitrafficking system through continuous actions to prevent THB, through quality services provided to THB victims, well-trained specialists, punishing traffickers and developing partnerships. The recommendations of GRETA Report will be included in the policy document.
- 2. An important action in protecting the rights and safety of employees, in combating illegal work, is the reform of the State Labor Inspectorate. The reform is centered on three major directions:
- adaptation of the legal framework and regulations, which would allow inspectors more actions to identify illegal work and apply sanctions, including unannounced visits to companies;
- modernization of technical equipment, better performing programs and software, including equipping inspectors with video cameras and equipment for recording conversations;
- developing the skills of the institution's employees through training on new inspection methods and reporting techniques, but also through their training abroad.
- 3. With regard to the Section 18. of the Report, *Prevention of child trafficking and the identification and assistance of child victims of trafficking*, I would like to mention the activity of the Barnahus-type integrated assistance Center for child victims/witnesses of crimes opened in March 2022, for its first year of activity. Thus, during 2022, 78 children (including refugee children from Ukraine) were assisted in the Center, who benefited from highly specialized integrated services. The most children were assisted in sexual crimes about 65%, followed by family violence crimes 23%, 4% child trafficking and 8% constituting other types of crimes.
- 4. Furthemore, it has to be mentioned, also, that the crises have changed the patterns of human trafficking, the Republic of Moldova from the country of origin becomes a country of destination. THB for the purpose of labour exploitation it is maintained in case of adult victims, and sexual exploitation in case of child victims. The use of information technologies is increasing, especially as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the refugee crisis in Ukraine. The national authorities pay attention also to some new trends, as exploitation in criminal activities, such as employment of drivers in EU region to transport migrants, trafficking of organs, cells/tissues and the technical-scientific progress of reproductive mmedicine.

We highly appreciate the cooperation with the CoE and are looking forward to continuing our joint activities also by means of assistance projects provided via the CoE Action Plan for the Republic of Moldova.

Thank you for your attention!

Appendix X

Statement by Ms Ivana Mašanović, Deputy to the Permanent Representative of Montenegro to the Council of Europe

Adequate implementation of the Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings in Montenegro has a positive effect on the overall efforts of the Government of Montenegro in the fight against trafficking in Human Beings.

GRETA, through the given recommendations, stated that progress has been achieved in certain areas, but also pointed to those in which, after the summarized responses from the competent authorities, it is evident that additional activities are needed for their full implementation.

In this regard, the Montenegrin authorities have already planned activities, which are in line with the given recommendations, and through the development of the Action Plan for the implementation of the Montenegrin Strategy for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings, for the coming 2024, they will be focused on the remaining challenges that are recognized.

In addition to the progress that has been achieved, the Montenegrin authorities will continue necessary activities in order to fully implement the Convention and improve the standards in this area.

In the end, I would like to thank GRETA for good and constructive cooperation with our authorities.

Thank you.

Appendix XI

Statement by Ms Delia Negraru, National Agency against Trafficking in Persons, Ministry of Internal Affairs, Romania

The fight against human trafficking remains a top priority on the executive agenda of Romania. Substantial anti-trafficking efforts have been undertaken in the reporting period by the Romanian authorities along with partners from civil society and the private sector. These efforts further develop previous years' initiatives and improve the coherence of Romania's anti-trafficking system. Our long-term strategic vision is to ensure that this system maintains continuity and room for expansion as it develops in line with European and international approaches in this field. Trafficking in persons is at the crossroads of many areas of intervention and therefore requires strategic coordination and planning across institutions. A number of important measures have been adopted in the reporting period to further strengthen these efforts in multiple areas of action, such as:

- **Leadership and Coordination**: As a result of the Prime Minister of Romania, a new architecture of the anti-trafficking system is in place since 2021. A national anti-trafficking coordinator has been appointed at the level of the Prime Minister Chancellery, a decision-making and strategic coordination Committe has been set up and led by the National coordinator, while the Rapporteur is represented by the National Agency against Trafficking in Persons. This ensures the continuity of the approach and cooperation between responsible state institutions and the other actors involved in these efforts at strategic level.
- **Integrated Plan**: The first Integrated Plan of Measures was developed and approved to respond to international recommendations on trafficking in persons.
- **Identification and Referral Mechanism**: An extensive process of updating the National Identification and Referral Mechanism was completed through a collaborative process with all actors involved and has been adopted through Government Decision. This is a strategic step which leads to a more effective response so that victims can benefit from integrated support based on their needs and specific situation.
- **Early identification**: The first government partnership to train frontline emergency physicians was completed to improve the identification of victims of human trafficking.
- **Action plan for Ukraine**: The Action Plan on the prevention of sexual exploitation, abuse, and risks associated with human trafficking for refugees from Ukraine has been approved and is being implemented. The measures taken by the Romanian Government have so far proved effective as no cases of trafficking in persons involving perpetrators or victims from Ukraine were identified in 2022.
- Online registration system for minors from Ukraine: A computer application for the registration of all children from Ukraine called Primero, has been launched by the National Authority for the Protection of Children's Rights and Adoption, with technical and financial support from UNICEF, as part of the coordination mechanism within the Ukrainian refugee crisis. It includes a child trafficking screening during the initial assessment, and if needed, a child may be referred as a potential victim of trafficking.
- **Statutory changes**: The Constitutional Court and the High Court of Cassation and Justice reinforced the special statute of limitations for criminal liability for the offences of slavery, trafficking in persons, child trafficking, and pimping. In 2022, the average sentence of a convicted trafficker increased to more than 5 years, compared to an average sentence of 3 years for the same offence in 2021.
- **Victim support**: 42 hearing rooms for victims of child human trafficking have been established across the country, where multidisciplinary teams can provide them with support services.

• **Surveillance**: An online forensics system has been deployed to the National Police improve the detection of online perpetrators of child sexual abusers and pedophiles.

• **New TIP strategy**: A dynamic evaluation process of SNITP has been conducted by a team of independent experts. The process to develop the new SNITP has been initiated. It will have priorities based on opportunities and needs, clear objectives and indicators, and a realistic action plan agreed upon by all partners, including civil society.